FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/20/2021 10:24 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100076-6

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAMON RUIZ,

Petitioner,

v.

THERESA CARSTENSEN,

Respondent.

## PETITIONER'S FIRST AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW OF COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

David R. Hearrean, WSBA #17864 Attorney for Respondent, Damon Ruiz

> P.O. Box 55 Wilbur, WA 99185 (509) 324-7840 davidhearrean@gmail.com

#### **

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner, Damon Ruiz, by and through his attorney petitions this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals Division III decision.

#### **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

The petitioner requests that this court review the decision of the Court of Appeals Division III filed on May 27, 2021 designated in Appendix 1 and the denial of petitioner's motion for reconsideration filed on July 13, 2021 as designated in Appendix 2.

#### C. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Court of Appeals erred in this case when its decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court, *Roake v. Delman*, 189 Wn.2d 775 (2018).
- 2. The Court of Appeals erred in this case when its decision violated due process and separation of powers doctrine which involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States.

#### E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. On September 23, 2017, Mr. and Mrs. Ruiz went to the Jason Aldean concert in Spokane with Ms. Carstensen and Ms. Carstensen's girlfriend. (CP at S22-55). After the concert they went "bar hopping" with Ms. Carstensen and her girlfriend. (CP at S22-55). Ms. Carstensen's husband was not present during this event. (CP at S22-55). Afterwards, the four of them went back to the hotel and had consensual foursome sexual encounters. (CP at S22-56). Nowhere in the record shows that the Petitioner ever reported any allegations of inappropriate sexual contact on anyone's part involving the September 23, 2017 incident and no police report was filed until after the July 2018 assault of Respondent's wife and child. CP at S22-4, S22-76 and VRP 26, 29. On July 6, 2018, Ms. Carstensen and her husband went to Ms. Ruiz place of employment at the Wilbur Register Newspaper located in downtown Wilbur and began yelling and screaming causing the employer to call 911. (CP at S22-54-55). During this disturbance, Ms. Carstensen assaulted Ms. Ruiz and her child and damaged some of Ms. Ruiz's property. (CP at S22-53-58).

Additionally, Ms. Ruiz alleged that Ms. Carstensen and her husband stalked and harassed her and her family. (CP at S22-65-66). On July 9, 2018, Ms. Ruiz filed for and on July 24, 2018 was granted an Anti-Harassment Order against Ms. Carstensen and her husband Justin Carstensen. (CP at S22-60-74). On August 1, 2018, the Lincoln County Prosecutor filed criminal charges against Ms. Carstensen of (2) two counts of Fourth Degree Assault and (1) one count of Malicious Mischief Third Degree. (CP at S22-50-51). On December 8, 2018, Mr. Ruiz and his minor son traveled to Mr. Wagoner's butcher business located just outside of Wilbur to pick up some pre-ordered pork. (CP at S22-28). Unknown to Mr. or Mrs. Ruiz, Ms. Carstensen and her husband had recently rented a house in the same compound and general location as the butcher shop. (CP at S22-27-47). Mr. Carstensen observed Mr. Ruiz and minor son traveling in the area to pick up the pork and mistakenly concluded that Mr. Ruiz was stalking or harassing Ms. Carstensen. (CP at S22-27-47). However, Mr. and Mrs. Carstensen did not know or understand that Mr. Wagoner did operate and conduct butcher business at the same compound

location. (CP at S22-4, S22-27-47) (VRP 42-43). Mrs. Carstensen filed her sworn written statement which the court considered in granting the temporary SAPO which she incorrectly states: "Damon stopped and talked with a neighbor business owner as if he had business there". (CP at S22-4, S22-27-47) (VRP 42-43). "The business is not in a commercialized area, and I had never seen anyone stop there before". (CP at S22-4, S22-27-47) (VRP 42-43). As a result, on December 11, 2018, Ms. Carstensen filed the Petition for a Sexual Assault Protection Order (SAPO) and was granted a Temporary SAPO without prior notice and opportunity for Mr. Ruiz to respond which is at issue in this appeal. (CP at S22-1-9). On December 18, 2018, Mr. Ruiz filed a response and motion to reopen temporary SAPO and dismiss the temporary SAPO (CP at S22-13-50) and on December 21, 2018, a hearing was held, and all parties were present and represented by counsel before the Honorable Superior Court Judge John F. Strohmier. VRP 1-52. During this hearing, the judge reopened the temporary SAPO and asked the parties for any additional evidence including testimony of "statements or actions made at

the same time of the sexual assault or subsequently thereafter, which give rise to a reasonable fear of future dangerous acts" as stated in RCW 7.90.020(1). VRP 36, 39, 43. The trial court applied the law as the Washington Supreme Court required in Roake when the temporary SAPO is reopened by the respondent and contested. VRP 36, 39, 43. Mr. Ruiz motioned the court to do such (CP at S22-15-74) and Ms. Carstensen offered no additional information. VRP 36, 39, 43. The court gave all parties an opportunity to bring in additional information "if anyone had anything, so I left it (temporary hearing) open... No one brought anything new..." so the judge ruled that the temporary SAPO "will not continue" and is denied and dismissed. VRP 52. (CP at S22-122-124). The judge also found that the petitioner's allegations that Mr. Ruiz has "rapey eyes" was subjective and a clear example of Mrs. Carstensen's attitude and lack of factual basis for the temporary SAPO. VRP 44. The judge stated that "when you talk about the declaration that his (rapey) eyes or something like that, ... you've got to step back and step back..." "I've never seen anybody come in

here and I could tell by looking at them they're guilty of a crime". VRP 44.

#### F. ARGUMENT

1. The Court of Appeals erred in this case because its decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court, Roake v. Delman, 189 Wn.2d 775, 408 P.3d 658 (2018).

A. Mr. Ruiz first claims that the facts in the present case are almost the same facts as in Roake.

Mr. Ruiz asserts that in both cases, all parties lived in a small community and occasionally saw each other in passing. At no time in both cases was there any discussions, threats, or assaults. CP at S22-27 to S22-50. Roake at 777-778. In both cases, the petitioners were granted a temporary protection order without notice to the other side and the respondents contested the then required reasonable fear of future dangerousness and the trial court agreed and dismissed the temporary protection order. CP at S22-27 to S22-50. Roake at p778-780. Ms. Roake claimed that that she did "not know what he [was] capable of". Ms. Carstensen claimed that Mr. Ruiz had rapey eyes and she or her husband has encountered him several times in the small town. (CP at S22-1-9). Roake at p778-780. CP at S22-27 -50.

RP 1-52. Finally, even the trial court held that the facts in this case are similar to *Roake*. RP 36.

## B. The Trial Court Followed the Procedures as Outlined By the *Roake* Supreme Court.

(1). Mr. Ruiz claims that the Court of Appeals erred when it held that the trial did not follow the procedures as outlined in *Roake*. At page 10 of the decision, the Court of Appeals held:

In this case, unlike in Roake, the trial court did not dismiss the petition on the pleadings but instead found that at the time Ms. Carstensen filed her petition, it was legally and factually sufficient and valid. After finding the pleadings sufficient, the trial court then considered Mr. Ruiz's petition to reopen the temporary order and raise a meritorious factual defense to the temporary order. The trial court then considered declarations outside of the pleadings to hold that Mr. Ruiz had a meritorious defense because Ms. Carstensen had failed to prove a reasonable fear of future dangerous acts. By doing so, the trial court conflated sufficiency of the evidence with credibility of the evidence. See p. 10 of decision.

However, Mr. Ruiz refers this court to the record which is very clear that the trial court and Ms. Carstensen's counsel agreed that the temporary order be addressed first pursuant to *Roake* which occurred. Thus, Mr. Ruiz claims that the record shows

that the superior court did not find that the petition was legally and factually sufficient and valid. RP 6-24. Also see RP 36. In fact, the trial judge specifically stated that he will address Mr. Ruiz's motion to reopen the temporary first. RP 6. Therefore, the record is clear that the trial court did not find the SAPO petition was valid first as COA claim. Mr. Ruiz further claims that the transcript shows that the trial court throughout the hearing references its decision as directed in *Roake*. See RP 6,7,9,10,11,17,36,38,48,49 of the transcript.

(2). Mr. Ruiz next claims that the COA then incorrectly held that if the petition and temporary orders are sufficient, the trial court abused its discretion by not moving forward with a full hearing on the final order. Please see p12 of the decision that states:

Mr. Ruiz raised a factual defense to the claims made in Ms. Carstensen's petition. If the petition and temporary order are sufficient and valid, the trial court should move forward with a full hearing on the final order. RCW 7.90.050¹. In failing to do so, the trial court abused its discretion. See p. 12 of Decision.

However, Mr. Ruiz points to the report of proceedings and record where the trial court here just as the trial court did in *Roake*, reopened the temporary order after Mr. Ruiz brought forward evidence of the meritorious defense to petitioner's allegations of reasonable fear of future dangerous acts. This was in the form of a Motion to Reopen the Temporary Order and Dismissal of the SAPO just as was done legally in *Roake*. CP S22-15 to S22-74. RP 6-24.

(3). Mr. Ruiz also claims the COA erred when it ruled that the Trial Court did not follow the procedure as authorized in RCW 7.90.130(2)(e) and *Roake*. This contested portion of the decision states:

In this case, Mr. Ruiz disputed Ms. Carstensen's factual claim of future dangerous acts. Instead of holding a fact finding hearing and taking evidence, the trial court considered declarations beyond the pleadings to determine credibility not sufficiency. This procedure is not authorized by RCW 7.90.130(2)(e) or *Roake*. See P. 11 of decision.

However, Mr. Ruiz disagrees and claims that the trial court followed the proper procedure as directed in *Roake*. In addition to the same argument made in A(1) and A(2), he points out that the *Roake* Supreme Court held that the respondent is legally

allowed to petition the court to reopen the order under the 2018 version of RCW 7.90.130 and CR 12 if he or she alleges a meritorious defense to the sufficiency of a temporary SAPO. See *Roake* at p.782. In the present case, Mr. Ruiz filed such motion to reopen and dismiss just as legally allowed in *Roake*. See CP S22-15 to S22-74. Additionally, Mr. Ruiz did challenge the SAPO petition by bringing forth such motion<sup>ii</sup>.

(4). Mr. Ruiz also claims that the trial court did follow the correct procedures as outlined in *Roake* when it dismissed the SAPO. RP 52. He claims that according to *Roake*, a legal SAPO Petition must contain 2 elements of (1) sexual assault factual basis and (2) reasonable fear of future dangerous acts. See 2018 version of RCW 7.90.020(1). Therefore, Mr. Ruiz asks this court to review the relevant 2018 version of RCW 7.90.020(1) that clearly states that the SAPO petition must contain both elements and by Mr. Ruiz challenging the element of reasonable fear of future dangerous acts, he did challenge the petition according to lawiii. See CP S22-122 to S22-124. Mr. Ruiz believes that based on these arguments, the Court of Appeal's decision in this case that the trial judge did not follow

the correct procedures conflicts with the Washington State Supreme Court decision in *Roake*.

(5). Mr. Ruiz also claims that the trial judge did follow the proper procedure as required in RCW 7.90.130 and Roake and considered the pleadings<sup>iv</sup> and any other evidence the parties wanted to submit including testimony.<sup>v</sup>

Mr. Ruiz contends that the COA decision is in conflict with and overlooked the language in *Roake* which supports the procedure followed by the trial court in this case. This contested portion of the Court of Appeal's decision at p.11 reads as follows:

The majority went on to hold that when "a respondent brings a challenge to the sufficiency of the initial petition, either under RCW 7.90.130 or by way of a motion to dismiss as filed here, a trial court resolves that claim on the pleadings." Roake, 189 Wn.2d at 784 (emphasis added). Thus, under Roake, sufficiency and validity are determined on the pleadings. But when a respondent disputes a factual claim made in the petition, the court must hold a fact finding hearing and resolve the issue based on testimony or evidence submitted. Id. In this case, Mr. Ruiz disputed Ms. Carstensen's factual claim of future dangerous acts. Instead of holding a fact finding hearing and taking evidence, the trial court considered declarations beyond the pleadings to determine credibility not sufficiency. This procedure is not authorized by RCW 7.90.130(2)(e) or Roake. See P. 11 of Decision.

However, Mr. Ruiz claims that this Court of Appeal's decision is incorrect and in conflict with *Roake*. He refers this court to the portion of the *Roake* decision that rules otherwise. In that decision, this Court held:

Here, Delman effectively did that by filing the motion to dismiss. Based on the motion, the trial court heard argument on the motion on the date the final hearing was scheduled. This was proper procedure established under RCW 7.90.130, which provides that a respondent may petition the court to reopen the ex parte temporary order where the respondent alleges that he or she had a meritorious defense to the order. Delman argued that Roake's petition was legally insufficient, which is such meritorious defense. See *Roake* at p. 782-783. (Emphasis added).

In the present case, the petitioner, Mr. Ruiz, filed the motion to reopen/dismiss and on the date of the scheduled final hearing, the trial court heard argument on the motion and dismissed after finding that the petitioner did not prove future reasonable fear of dangerous acts as required by law. However, the trial judge in the present case even went further and allowed any party to present any evidence including testimony which was rejected by all parties. RP 27, 33-34, 35, 52. Mr. Ruiz asks this court to

review the transcript of the proceedings at page 50-52. The trial judge clearly states:

Court: The parties had an opportunity to bring in additional information if anyone had anything, so I left it open for the hearing, for the temporary hearing. No one brought anything new to the table, and so I ruled on the temporary order that that was not going to continue. RP 52.

The trial court even went further than required and stated to Ms. Carstensen's counsel that the pretext claim that Mr. Ruiz just used the "pick up meat" to really put fear in her was unbelievable. The judge stated:

Court: I don't believe the evidence that I've seen – read will lead me to believe that particular was a pretext <u>unless you have some live testimony to convince me otherwise</u>, which I don't know because I think you would of given it to me by now. RP 27. (emphasis added).

Thus, the trial court did hold a fact finding hearing and after considering all the evidence submitted by the parties, the trial court held that Mr. Ruiz had no knowledge of her location and was only picking up meat from an established butcher business. As a result, Mr. Ruiz argues that the superior court judge held just as in *Roake* that the then petitioner, Ms. Carstensen, did not

have true objective future fear of dangerous act and thus, dismissed the restraining order. See CP S22-122 to S22-124. Thus, Mr. Ruiz argues that the trial court did follow the exact procedure as clearly stated by the *Roake* Supreme Court. He respectfully claims that the Court of Appeals was just making the same argument as the Court of Appeals did in Roake v. Delman, 194 Wn. App. 442, 377 P.3d 258 (2016), that was reversed by this supreme court. In that case, the court of appeals held:

We conclude that the SAPO Act, by its plain language, requires that a petition include an allegation that the respondent made specific statements or actions giving rise to a reasonable fear of future dangerous acts. However, the act does not require that a petitioner prove this allegation to obtain a protection order. See *Roake v. Delman*, 194 Wn. App. 442 at 453, reversed in *Roake v. Delman*, 189 Wn.2d 775 (2018).

Ms. Carstensen's counsel made the same argument as the Court of Appeals and argued:

MR. ULRICH: I am arguing that the Court does not need to consider the reasonable fear element in issuing the final order. RP 17

However, the *Roake* Supreme Court disagreed with the COA as well as counsel for Ms. Roake and held:

The Court of Appeals misunderstood the procedural posture and focused its analysis on RCW 7.90.090(1)(a), which establishes the requirements necessary for issuance of a final protection order. Roake at p. 783. (Emphasis added).

In the present case, the Court of Appeals also held that:

If the petition and temporary order are sufficient and valid, the trial court should move forward with a full hearing on the final order. RCW 7.90.050. In failing to do so, the trial court abused its discretion." See p. 5 of Decision. There is good cause to grant the remedy, regardless of the lack of prior service of process or of notice upon the respondent, because the harm which that remedy is intended to prevent would be likely to occur if the respondent were given any prior notice, or greater notice than was actually given, of the petitioner's efforts to obtain judicial relief. RCW 7.90.110(1). See p. 6-7 of decision. Emphasis added.

However, Mr. Ruiz argues that the Supreme Court in *Roake* rejected this argument, and the Honorable Division III Court of Appeal's judges overlooked this point and made the same argument. As a result, Mr. Ruiz contends the Court of Appeals erred in this case when it went on to find that the trial court

abused its discretion by holding that Ms. Carstensen did not prove reasonable fear of future dangerous act.

(6). Mr. Ruiz also claims that the COA decision that the trial judge must believe everything that Ms. Carstensen states without more regarding proving reasonable fear of future dangerous acts violates Due Process and would lead to an absurd result.

The decision at issue which Mr. Ruiz asks this court to reverse states the following:

While Mr. Ruiz denied these allegations, the court was required to accept Ms. Carstensen's version of events if it was going to decide Mr. Ruiz's motion under RCW 7.90.130(2)(e). Instead, the trial court accepted Mr. Ruiz's explanation. Viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to Ms. Carstensen, her petition is sufficient and valid. See page 12 of Decision.

However, Mr. Ruiz claims that the superior court judge considered this point and ruled that if any judge just believed everything a petitioner stated as true without more, this could lead to absurd results. RP 12-13.

(7). Ms. Carstensen Should Not Be Rewarded Under Invited Error for Setting Up Alleged Error.

Mr. Ruiz also claims that Ms. Carstensen's decision to not present testimony or any other additional evidence as requested by the trial judge regarding reasonable fear of future dangerous acts was invited error which was totally the Ms. Carstensen's free choice to offer testimony or not. Thus, she chooses to rest which is her prerogative. Under the doctrine of invited error, a party may not materially contribute to an erroneous application of law at trial and then complain of it on appeal. In re Dependency of K.R., 128 Wn.2d 129, 147, 904 P.2d 1132 (1995). The invited error dogma precludes a party from seeking appellate review of an error it helped create. State v. Studd, 137 Wn.2d 533, 546-47, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999); State v. Henderson, 114 Wn.2d 867, 870-71, 792 P.2d 514 (1990). The doctrine of invited error prohibits a party from setting up an error at trial and then complaining of it on appeal. State v. Wakefield, 130 Wn.2d 464, 475, 925 P.2d 183 (1996). Therefore, Mr. Ruiz asks this court to reverse the COA and not reward a party who sets up any alleged error.

(8). Finally, Mr. Ruiz asks this court to also reverse the Court of Appeal's findings that appears to state that he agreed that he sexually assaulted the petitioner.

Mr. Ruiz refers this court to the COA finding at page 4 of the decision, the COA wrote:

For purposes of the motion to reopen and dismiss, Mr. Ruiz did not dispute the sexual assault but claimed that the temporary order was invalid because it failed to prove a reasonable fear of future dangerous acts from the respondent as required by *Roake*. P. 4 of COA decision.

However, Mr. Ruiz argues that according to WPIC 35.50 Assault—Definition: An act is not an assault, if it is done with the consent of the person alleged to be assaulted. Thus, Mr. Ruiz claims that the COA overlooked this fact plus Mr. Ruiz's declaration submitted in this SAPO hearing (CP at S22-27 to S22-31) and his statement to law enforcement where he clearly disputes that he sexually assaulted the respondent. See first paragraph in CP22-56.

2. The Court of Appeals erred in this case when its decision violated due process and separation of powers doctrine which involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States.

Mr. Ruiz respectfully asks this court to reverse the Court of Appeal's order on the basis that it violates the separation of powers doctrine which involves a significant question of law

under the Constitution of the State of Washington and of the United States. He refers to the Court of Appeals decision and basis which reversed the trial court's dismissal and remanded back to superior court with instructions that the amended RCW 7.90.020 should be applied retroactively. However, Mr. Ruiz argues that the Court of Appeals order violates the Separation of Powers doctrine since the remand was ordered to apply retroactively." See p. 13 of the Div III decision.

#### G. CONCLUSION

Therefore, based upon this separation of powers and Roake conclusions plus all the legal and factual argument above, Mr. Ruiz respectfully asks this court to grant this Petition for Review of the Court of Appeal's decisions, reverse the Court of Appeal's decisions and affirm the trial court's decision dismissing the SAPO.