FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/22/2021 2:55 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

**CASE NO. 100076-6** 

**COA No. 365603-III** 

## SUPREME COURT

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### THERESA CARSTENSEN,

Petitioner/Appellant,

VS.

#### **DAMON RUIZ,**

Respondent.

### PETITIONER'S RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW OF COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

**CLAIRE CARDEN**, WSBA #50590

Northwest Justice Project 1702 West Broadway Avenue Spokane, WA 99201

Telephone: (509) 324-9128

Fax: (206) 299-3185

Attorney for Petitioner/Appellant

####

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

Mr. Ruiz has failed to establish any basis for the Washington Supreme Court to take review.

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court <u>only</u>: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b) (emphasis added).

Mr. Ruiz argues under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(3); however, (A) the decision does not conflict with *Roake v. Delman*, 189 Wn.2d 775, 408 P.3d 658 (2018), and (B) the decision does not violate due process or separation of powers. Therefore, review of the unpublished Court of Appeals decision is unwarranted.

# A. THE COURT OF APPEALS APPROPRIATELY APPLIED ROAKE V. DELMAN AND FOUND THAT MS. CARSTENSEN HAD MET HER BURDEN TO OVERCOME A MOTION TO DISMISS

### 1. This Case is Both Factually and Legally Distinct from *Roake*

In Roake, Megan Roake was a college student at the University of Washington (UW) when Maxwell Delman, also a student at UW, violently raped her. *Id.* at 777. The rape took place near the end of the quarter. Id. When Ms. Roake returned to school, she reported the rape to the police and the university student conduct office. Id. at 777-78. The student conduct office issued a no contact order pending the outcome of its investigation. *Id.* While it was pending, Ms. Roake saw Mr. Delman a couple of times on campus and at one or more parties and he always left immediately. *Id.* In January of 2015, Ms. Roake petitioned the court for a sexual assault protection order, describing the violent rape, the times she had seen Mr. Delman, and stating that she did not know what he was capable of. *Id.* at 778. The court issued a temporary sexual assault protection order and set a hearing fourteen days out. *Id*. After multiple continuances, Mr. Delman, through counsel, filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to CR 12(c). *Id* at 778-79.

Roake responded that her statement in her petition that she "did not know what Delman was capable of" was sufficient to demonstrate her reasonable fear of future dangerous acts under the act, and that she did not have to prove the existence of acts giving rise to reasonable fear of future dangerous acts to support issuance of a final SAPO. No other assertions or statements, threats, or subsequent actions by Delman were asserted.

*Id.* at 779.

"The trial court granted the motion to dismiss, holding that the petition failed to establish Roake had any reasonable fear of future dangerous acts from Delman." *Id*.

Here, unlike *Roake*, Ms. Carstensen described a variety of specific subsequent actions taken by Mr. Ruiz that caused her to reasonably fear him. Ms. Carstensen described Mr. Ruiz repeatedly showing up at the grocery store and staring her down. She described how he would walk into the store after her, get a single item, and check out behind her while staring at her. She

described being so afraid, she moved her family 23 miles outside of town and still he drove through her driveway past her house. Ms. Carstensen was petrified and immediately called the police. Despite Mr. Ruiz's claims to the contrary, this is sufficient to overcome a motion to reopen or motion to dismiss.

#### 2. The Court of Appeals Properly Reversed Because the Trial Court Considered Significant Declarations Beyond the Pleadings and Applied the Incorrect Legal Standard

The Washington Supreme Court in *Roake*, "[held] that RCW 7.90.130(2)(e) provides the procedure and opportunity to contest the sufficiency and validity of the petition and temporary order, and that the trial court correctly held that Roake's petition was legally insufficient under RCW 7.90.020(1)." *Roake v. Delman*, 189 Wn.2d 775, 777, 408 P.3d 658 (2018). The Supreme Court issued a four-opinion plurality. The lead opinion was very narrow in its holding, finding that the SAPO statue provides a mechanism under RCW 7.90.130(2)(e) for a respondent to allege "a meritorious defense to the sufficiency of

a temporary SAPO." *Id.* at 784. Mr. Ruiz tries to distinguish between a motion to reopen and CR 12 motion, but this ignores the plain language of *Roake*. The Supreme Court clarified that this is a motion on *the pleadings*. *Id*.

The *Roake* court held that Megan Roake's pleadings were legally insufficient because they failed to allege "specific statements or actions . . . which g[a]ve rise to a reasonable fear of future dangerous acts[.]" *Id.* at 784-85 and RCW 7.90.020(1). The Supreme Court applied the traditional CR 12 standard and accepted all of Ms. Roake's statements in her pleadings *as true* but found them legally insufficient.

There are two mechanisms available for a sufficiency of the pleadings analysis: CR 12(b)(6) and CR 12(c). CR 12(b)(6) allows a motion to dismiss for "failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted." CR 12(c) states, "any party may move for judgment on the pleadings." In both CR 12(b)(6) and CR 12(c) motions, courts must "presume that the plaintiff's factual allegations are true and draw all reasonable inferences

from the factual allegations in the plaintiff's favor." *Roake*, 189 Wn.2d at 806 (Yu, J. *dissenting*). The question before the Court is whether the plaintiff has established a prima facie case.

For a CR12(c) motion, the court considers the filing that began the case and the response and makes a legal determination about the sufficiency of the pleadings. Here, the trial court properly determined that under CR 12(c), the pleadings were sufficient and, therefore, denied Mr. Ruiz's CR 12(c) motion. For a CR 12(b)(6) motion, the court only considers the filing that began the case to determine if it legally sufficient. "This weeds out complaints where, even if what the plaintiff alleges is true, the law does not provide a remedy." *McCurry v. Chevy Chase Bank, FSB*, 169 Wn.2d 96, 102, 233 P.3d 861 (2010). It is unclear how the pleadings could be sufficient under CR 12(c), but not CR 12(b)(6).

Here, the court made a legal determination about the reasonableness of Ms. Carstensen's fear after reviewing declarations well beyond the scope of the pleadings. "By doing

so, the trial court conflated sufficiency of the evidence with credibility of the evidence. Opinion at 10. The Court of Appeals in this case properly determined that the trial court should have only considered the petition and any response; Mr. Ruiz never filed a response<sup>4</sup> to the petition nor did he dispute the sexual assault allegations for the purposes of the motion. Therefore, the only evidence the court could consider was Ms. Carstensen's petition, which the trial court itself found sufficient. VRP 40.

## 3. The Doctrine of Invited Error Does Not Apply, as Ms. Carstensen Did Not Set Up the Errors Identified by the Court of Appeals

Ms. Carstensen did not invite error by resting on the motion because the trial court was unwilling to address the merits of the SAPO. The Court of Appeals found "[i]f the petition and temporary order are sufficient and valid, the trial court should move forward with a full hearing on the final order." Opinion at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In an endnote, Mr. Ruiz appears to claim that his motion to reopen and supporting documentation constituted a response, but this fundamentally misunderstands what constitutes a pleading within the meaning of CR 12(c).

12. Survivors of sexual assault who seek the safety of the courts, via a petition for a sexual assault protection order, are entitled to a hearing on the merits of their petition. In this case, the trial court denied Ms. Carstensen a hearing in violation of the plain and unambiguous language of RCW 7.90.050.

Upon receipt of the petition, the court **shall** order a hearing which **shall** be held not later than fourteen days from the date of the order. . . . The court may issue an ex parte temporary sexual assault order pending the hearing as provided in RCW 7.90.110.

RCW 7.90.050 (emphasis added).

"[T]he word "shall" imposes a mandatory, jurisdictional requirement[.]" *Erection Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. of State of Wash.*, 121 Wn.2d 513, 518, 852 P.2d 288 (1993). When a court receives a sexual assault protection order petition it must set a hearing within 14 days. The language of RCW 7.90.050 is also clear that the court must set a hearing, whether or not it grants a temporary ex parte order. Therefore, if a temporary order were reopened and subsequently denied, RCW 7.90.050 still mandates a hearing on the merits. Here, the court set the

hearing, but refused to allow argument or testimony on the facts of the nonconsensual sexual penetration. Instead, the trial court allowed Mr. Ruiz to reopen the temporary order, ruled on that motion, but never reached the issue of the full hearing. The Court of Appeals appropriately reversed that finding.

#### 4. The Court of Appeals Did Not Make Any Findings That Mr. Ruiz Agreed That He Sexually Assaulted Ms. Carstensen

The Court of Appeals found only that "[f]or purposes of the motion to reopen and dismiss, Mr. Ruiz did not dispute the sexual assault but claimed that the temporary order was invalid because it failed to prove a reasonable fear of future dangerous acts from the respondent as required by *Roake*." Opinion at 4. This is supported by counsel's statements at hearing. VRP at 8. ("[W]e're not contesting [the alleged sexual assault] at this point.") Even if erroneous, the Court of Appeals finding is limited to a motion that already occurred. There is, therefore, no harm in this finding.

## B. THE COURT OF APPEALS DID NOT VIOLATE DUE PROCESS<sup>5</sup> OR THE SEPARATION OF POWERS DOCTRINE

The Court of Appeals refused to apply the 2018 amendments to RCW 7.90.020 retroactively. Indeed, the Court agreed with Mr. Ruiz and found that "retroactive application of the statutory amendments to this case would contradict the controlling decision in *Roake* and violate the separation of powers doctrine." Opinion at 9.

"On a practical level, we consider a statue to be retroactive if the "triggering event" for its application happened before the effective date of the statute." *State v. Pillatos*, 159 Wn.2d 459, 471, 150 P.3d 1130 (2007). However, generally, newly enacted statutes apply "to all cases pending on direct appeal and not yet final." *State v. Jefferson*, 192 Wn.2d 225, 246, 429 P.3d 467 (2018). "[A] newly enacted statute . . . will only be applied to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Mr. Ruiz claims there is a violation of due process but fails to explain what that violation is. Without guessing, there is no way to respond to this argument.

proceeding that occurred far earlier in the case if the "triggering event" to which the new enactment might apply has not yet occurred." *Id*.

On remand, the Court determined that the 2018 amendments to RCW 7.90.020 would apply to the remanded SAPO. This does not violate separation of powers because the triggering event in this case "is a judicial determination that the petition does or does not meet the statutory requirements." Opinion at 8. On remand, there will be another judicial determination of whether Ms. Carstensen met the statutory requirements.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

Ms. Theresa Carstensen asks this Court to deny Mr. Ruiz's request for Supreme Court review because he has not established a basis to review.